ORIGINAL

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellant Case No. 2014-000963

Allen Patterson, Steve Tilton, Richard Sendler,  
Lincoln Privette, Marc Ellis, Joey Carter, Barry Davis,  
Michel Nieri, Allen Patterson Residential LLC, Tilton  
Group, Sendler Construction Co., Inc., Privette Enterprises,  
Ellis Construction Co., Inc., The Barry Davis Company, Inc.,  
Great Southern Homes, and J. Carter, LLC, on behalf of  
themselves and others similarly situated.....Appellants,

v.

Herb Witter, Colin Campbell, Eddie Weaver,  
Tom Markovich, Keith Smith, Jim Gregorie,

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. JUDGE COOPER IMPROPERLY RELIED ON THE PLEADING REQUIREMENTS OF RULE 23(b) REGARDING DERIVATIVE ACTIONS BROUGHT BY SHAREHOLDERS TO DISMISS THIS CASE BECAUSE THE TRUST FUND IS A TRUST WHICH IS NOT SUBJECT TO THE PLEADING REQUIREMENTS OF RULE 23(b).
- II. JUDGE COOPER IMPROPERLY RELIED ON THE PLEADING REQUIREMENTS OF RULE 23(b) TO DISMISS THE CASE BECAUSE THE TRUST FUND IS NOT AN UNINCORPORATED ASSOCIATION, THE BENEFICIARIES OF THE TRUST ARE NOT SHAREHOLDERS, AND THE ACTION IS NOT DERIVATIVE.
- III. EVEN IF THE COURT REQUIRES THE TRUST BENEFICIARIES TO COMPLY WITH RULE 23(b), THE BENEFICIARIES HAVE MET THE PLEADING REQUIREMENTS OF RULE 23(b), AND JUDGE COOPER DISMISSED THE COMPLAINT IN ERROR.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Plaintiffs are beneficiaries of a trust. (R. p. 345). In February 2012, they sued the Defendants for breach of their duties as trustees. The matter was originally brought in February 2012 as case number 2012-CP-32-00757. (R. p. 23). By consent of the parties, the matter was moved to Richland County and assigned case number 2012-CP-40-04311. In that case, the Trustees moved to dismiss alleging that the action against them must be brought in Probate Court because they were the trustees of a trust. Judge Manning granted that motion. (R. p. 1). The Plaintiffs then sued in Probate Court on April 9, 2013, and removed the case to Circuit Court. (R. pp. 47, 56). The Defendants moved to dismiss, arguing that the entity was not a trust, but an unincorporated association subject to the additional pleading requirements of Rule 23. Judge Cooper denied their motion on November 8, 2013. (R. p. 4). The Defendants moved to reconsider. Judge Cooper reversed his earlier position and dismissed the complaint on February 11, 2014. (R. p. 13). Judge Cooper held that the Trust Fund is not a “trust in its

commonly recognized form.” As a result, he treated the trust as an unincorporated association and held the pleadings to the standards required for derivative actions under South Carolina Rule of Civil Procedure 23(b). Judge Cooper then determined that the trust beneficiaries did not comply with Rule 23(b) because they did not allege with particularity the efforts they made to satisfy the pre-suit demand request in Rule 23(b). As a result, he dismissed the Complaint. The Plaintiffs moved to reconsider, and Judge Cooper denied their motion. (R. p. 22). The Plaintiffs filed their Notice of Appeal May 1, 2014.

### **FACTS**

In September 1995, the South Carolina Home Builders Association created a trust to administer worker’s compensation benefits for its members. That trust is titled the South Carolina Home Builders Self Insurers Fund (Trust Fund). (R. p. 345). The Trust Fund had several members of the South Carolina Home Builders Association on its board and worked in conjunction with the South Carolina Home Builders Association to sell worker’s compensation insurance policies and administer the policies. (R. p. 119).

The Trustees have made significant actions towards dissolving the trust and creating a new insurance company with the proceeds. The new insurance company would be a mutual insurance company of which the Trustees would all be board members. The insurance company would not have any particular benefit to the beneficiaries of the trust. The assets of the trust would be used to set up a company competing with the trust. The Trustees transferred approximately five million dollars out of the trust to do this. At some point, they transferred the money back into the trust. There is approximately \$20,000,000 remaining in the trust to fund its liabilities.

However, the Trustees intend to use these funds to set up a separate insurance company which will convey no benefit to the beneficiaries of the trust. (R. pp. 47, 119).

The Trustees have purchased a building with trust assets as well as an expensive software program for the purpose of creating another insurance company which will convey no benefit to the beneficiaries of the trust. The Trustees have used these assets to begin setting up a separate insurance company which will convey no benefit to the beneficiaries of the trust and have not reimbursed the trust for these costs including the use of facilities, the software programs, and the employees of the trust. If the trust continues along its present course, there will be insufficient assets to cover its risks which will expose the beneficiaries to additional risk. All beneficiaries of the trust are subject to personal liability for any shortfall in trust assets. (R. p. 119).

### ARGUMENT

**I. JUDGE COOPER IMPROPERLY RELIED ON THE PLEADING REQUIREMENTS OF RULE 23 TO DISMISS THIS CASE BECAUSE THE SELF INSURERS TRUST IS A TRUST WHICH IS NOT SUBJECT TO THE PLEADING REQUIREMENTS OF RULE 23(b).**

**A. THE TRUST FUND MEETS THE SOUTH CAROLINA REQUIREMENTS FOR A TRUST.**

A trust is created by “written declaration signed by the owner of property that the owner holds identifiable property as trustee.” S.C. Code Ann. § 62-7-401(a)(2) (2013). For a trust to be created, there must be “a declaration of the trust, property to which the trust pertained, a Trustee, and named beneficiaries.” *Johnson v. Thornton*, 264 S.C. 252, 257, 214 S.E.2d 124, 127 (1975); *see also*, Restatement (Second) of Trusts § 2 (1959). A beneficiary is defined as a “person that has a present or future beneficial interest in a trust, vested or contingent.” S.C. Code Ann. § 62-7-103 (2)(A).

The Trust Fund is a trust. It meets all requirements of a trust in South Carolina. It was created by a written declaration. There is identifiable property, named trustees, and the beneficiaries are named or identified. (R. pp. 345-353).

The trial court erred when it held that the Trust Fund was not a trust. The court stated: “[t]he Agreement and Declaration of Trust in this case is replete with references to trustees and trustee duties and obligations. There is no reference to, or provisions for, ‘beneficiary(ies)’ in the document.” (R. p. 15). The court reasoned that because the word “beneficiary” was not used, beneficiaries were not created. However, the Trust used the word “member” to identify the beneficiaries, since all beneficiaries were also members of the South Carolina Home Builder’s Association. The court was in error, since the use of the term “member” rather than “beneficiary” does not disqualify the Trust Fund as a trust.

“[N]o particular form of words is essential to the creation of an express trust, but unquestionably an intention so to do, on the part of the person to whom such creation is imputed, is essential.” *Richardson v. Inglesby*, 34 S.C. Eq. 59, 101 (S.C. Ct. App. 1866). Even the word “trust” does not have to be used in the document creating a trust as long as all requirements are met. *Hunter v. Hunter*, 58 S.C. 382, 36 S.E. 734, 736 (1900).

There is no particular formality required or necessary in the creation of a trust. Any agreement or contract in writing, made by a person having the power of disposal over property, whereby such person agrees or directs that a particular parcel of property, or a certain fund, shall be held or dealt with in a particular manner for the benefit of another, in a court of equity, raises a trust in favor of such other person.

*Black v. Harman*, 127 S.C. 359, 359, 120 S.E. 705, 710 (1923) (J. Hothran, dissenting) citing 1 Perry, *Trusts* (3d Ed.) § 82. There are no required words for the establishment of

a trust. As long as the agreement declares that property is held by one for the benefit of another, a trust is created. *Id.*

The content of the trust document indicates that the member beneficiaries were to benefit from the trust's operations. (R. pp. 345, 247). The Trust Agreement states that "the Settlor and the Trustees intend to . . . establish[] a group self insurers fund . . . *for the benefit of the members;*" and that this is "*in the best interest of the members.*" Though the word member is used instead of beneficiary, the agreement is a contract in writing, made by a person having the power of disposal over a certain fund, which shall be held or dealt with in a particular manner for the benefit of another. *Black*, 127 at 359, 120 S.E. at 710.

The trust document also states explicitly that it is a trust. "The Agreement and Declaration of Trust in this case is replete with references to trustees and trustee duties and obligations . . . ." (R. p. 15). The first page of the document declares that it is an "AGREEMENT AND DECLARATION OF TRUST CREATING THE SOUTH CAROLINA HOME BUILDERS SELF INSURERS FUND." (R. p. 345). Article II is titled "CREATION OF THE TRUST" and calls the fund a trust fund as follows:

There is hereby established and created a Trust Fund which shall be known as the SOUTH CAROLINA HOME BUILDERS SELF INSURERS FUND and the Trustees thereof may hold property, enter into contracts and in all matters as hereinafter set forth act in behalf of the Trust Fund in that name. This Trust Fund shall be used for the purposes as hereinafter set forth.

(R. p. 347). It continues by stating that:

WHEREAS, it is considered to be in the best interest of the members of the Home Builders Association of South Carolina, Inc. that an Agreement and Declaration of Trust fully setting forth the duties and responsibilities of the Trustees be entered into.

(R. p. 345). In addition, the agreement states: “[t]he Board of Trustees shall have all authorities and powers granted to Trustees generally under the laws of South Carolina including the powers and authorities conferred under the Uniform Trustee's Powers Act.” (R. p. 355). And, it cites Section 62-7-703(b) of the Probate Code to set forth the powers of the trustees. (R. p. 355).

The trial court reasoned that because “[e]ach member pays a predetermined rate” to the fund that the fund cannot be trust. (R. p. 15). This reasoning is in error. The settlor of a trust is defined as “a person, including a testator, who creates, or contributes property to, a trust.” S.C. Code Ann. § 62-7-103. Therefore, the member beneficiaries of the trust contribute to the trust fund. There is no South Carolina law prohibiting a settlor from being a beneficiary of a trust or prohibiting beneficiaries of a trust from contributing to it.

The Trust Fund meets all requirements of a trust, states that it is a trust, and refers to South Carolina Probate Code in defining trustee powers. It has a settlor, trustee, and beneficiaries. It is not incorporated. If it is not a trust as the trustees argue, what can it be?

If it is an unincorporated association, it could be a partnership. But there is no document indicating that any of the parties intended it to be a partnership. It is not a union, fraternal organization, sports team, or unincorporated church. The trust document makes no reference to it being an unincorporated association. It is not registered as a business trust. If the Trust Fund is not a trust, it does not identify as any entity currently recognized at law. It would have to be an entirely new species of business organization.

B. THE DEFENDANTS HAVE ALREADY ASSERTED THAT THE TRUST FUND IS A TRUST AND CANNOT NOW CONTEND THAT IT IS NOT.

The Plaintiffs are beneficiaries of the Trust Fund and sued the Defendants for breach of their duties as trustees. The matter was originally brought in February 2012 as case number 2012-CP-32-00757. In that case, the Trustees moved to dismiss on the basis that the Trustees must be sued in Probate Court because they served a trust. The Trustees stated: “this action should be dismissed for lack of subject matter jurisdiction as it involves the internal affairs of a trust.” (R. p. 133). In support of this motion, the Trustees submitted the affidavit of Jeffrey Ranew. He continually refers to the South Carolina Home Builders Self Insurers Fund as a trust and the funds as a trust corpus. (R. p. 124).

Judge Manning granted the motion to dismiss, stating:

In particular, the Defendants have moved to dismiss on the basis of lack of subject matter jurisdiction. The Defendants argued that this lawsuit involved the internal affairs of the Trust such that it must be filed in the Probate Court under South Carolina Code Section 62-7-201.... It is clear from the documents submitted to the Court that this dispute concerns a trust.... With this in mind, the Court dismisses this lawsuit without prejudice such that it may be refiled in Probate Court to cure any alleged defects in subject matter jurisdiction.

(R. p. 1).

In their Second Motion to Dismiss, the Defendants took the position that the trust is not a trust, but an unincorporated association. (R. p. 142). The Trustees cannot now claim that the Trust Fund is not a trust when they previously maintained that it was a trust and received relief under that theory.

Judicial estoppel precludes a party from adopting a position in conflict with one earlier taken in the same or related litigation. *Hayne Federal Credit Union v. Bailey*, 327 S.C. 242, 252, 489 S.E.2d 472, 477 (1997) (citing *Colleton Regional Hosp. v. MRS Med. Rev. Sys.*, 866 F. Supp. 896 (D.S.C. 1994)). Judicial estoppel applies to inconsistent statements of fact. *Id.* “When a party has formally asserted a certain version of the facts in litigation, he cannot later change those facts when the initial version no longer suits him.” *Id.*

In *Hayne Federal Credit Union v. Bailey*, Mr. Bailey claimed ownership of a house through a resulting trust. Earlier, in his divorce, he disavowed any interest in the property and maintained that the property belonged to his son. The Supreme Court held Mr. Bailey was estopped from later claiming an interest in the property because in his divorce he attributed ownership to his son.

Likewise, the Trustees cannot now claim that the Trust Fund is not a trust. The Trustees obtained an order from the court dismissing the previous lawsuit based on their factual assertion that the South Carolina Home Builders Self Insurers Fund was a trust. Now, the Trustees take the position that it is not a trust, but an unincorporated association, which changes the pleading requirements of the lawsuit. The Trustees cannot assert these two different versions of the facts. They are bound by the assertion made in the previous lawsuit and the order which resulted. Thus, the Trust Fund is a trust, not an unincorporated association, and does not have to comply with Rule 23(b) regarding derivative actions.

**II. RULE 23(b) DOES NOT APPLY TO THE TRUST FUND BECAUSE THE TRUST FUND IS NOT AN UNINCORPORATED ASSOCIATION, THE BENEFICIARIES OF THE TRUST ARE NOT SHAREHOLDERS, AND THE ACTION IS NOT DERIVATIVE.**

**A. THE TRUST FUND IS NOT AN UNINCORPORATED ASSOCIATION.**

The trial court erred when it re-classified this lawsuit as a derivative suit by changing the Trust Fund into an unincorporated association. The Plaintiffs are the beneficiaries of the Trust Fund.<sup>1</sup> The trustee Defendants must operate the trust for the benefit of the Plaintiff beneficiaries, not for the benefit of a separate corporation or association.

Under South Carolina law, trusts are not unincorporated associations. For example, the South Carolina Real Property Valuation Reform Act defines a legal entity in the disjunctive as a “corporation, partnership, limited liability company, unincorporated association, or trust.” S.C. Code § 12-37-3160(c). Likewise, the Uniform Land Sales Practice Act lists trusts and unincorporated associations as separate types of business entities as follows:

(3) “*Person*” means an individual, corporation, government, or governmental subdivision or agency, business trust, estate, trust, partnership, unincorporated association, two or more of any of the foregoing having a joint or common interest, or any other legal or commercial entity.

S.C. Code Ann. § 27-29-10(3). The South Carolina Consumer Protection Code uses a similar definition. *See*, S.C. Code Ann § 37-25-10(2).

In addition, the South Carolina Code makes separate provisions for naming an unincorporated association in a lawsuit and for serving an unincorporated association.

---

<sup>1</sup> In addition, each beneficiary of the Trust Fund is jointly and severally liable for underfunded losses of the Self Insurers Fund. (R. p. 119). Under South Carolina law, a shareholder is not liable for corporate losses. S.C. Code Ann. § 33-6-220(b).

*See*, S.C. Code Ann. §§ 15-5-160 and 15-9-330. The Code also includes separate provisions for collection of judgments against unincorporated associations. *See*, S.C. Code Ann. § 15-35-170. The South Carolina Corporate Code defines both an unincorporated association and a trust as legal entities naming each one separately. *See*, S.C. Code Ann. § 33-1-400(11). So do the South Carolina Nonprofit Corporation Act and the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act. *See*, S.C. Code Ann. §§ 33-31-140(15) and 39-5-10(a).

The Code also separately sets forth how to create a trust. *See*, S.C. Code Ann. § 62-7-401. It sets forth what venue is appropriate for suit against a trust. S.C. Code Ann. § 62-7-204. In fact, Article 7 of the South Carolina Probate Code contains the South Carolina Trust Code which contains detailed law regarding the creation and governance of trusts. *See*, S.C. Code Ann. §§ 62-7-101 to 62-7-1106.

As a result, the South Carolina Code treats unincorporated associations and trusts as distinct legal entities. And, Judge Cooper erred in redefining the Trust Fund as an unincorporated association and subjecting it to the requirements of Rule 23(b).

The trust document makes the beneficiary members of the Trust Fund jointly and severally liable for its debts, but this does not transform the Trust Fund into an unincorporated association. The Trust Fund calls itself a trust, calls its board members trustees, and meets the definition of a trust. Trusts are not treated as unincorporated associations in South Carolina. There is no South Carolina authority of any sort treating a trust as an unincorporated association. Therefore, the Trust Fund should be treated as a trust – not an unincorporated association. As a result, the Trust Fund is not entitled to the

derivative action protections of Rule 23(b) which apply only to corporations and unincorporated associations.

**B. THE BENEFICIARY MEMBERS ARE NOT SHAREHOLDERS AND DO NOT HAVE THE RIGHTS OF SHAREHOLDERS.**

Under Rule 23(b) a derivative action is “brought by one or more *shareholders or members to enforce a right of a corporation or of an unincorporated association....*”

Nevertheless, Judge Cooper applied it to this action against a trust. Thus, to apply Rule 23(b), the beneficiaries of the trust would have to be shareholders of a corporation or members of an unincorporated association. A shareholder is a “person in whose name shares are registered in the records of a corporation or the beneficial owner of shares....”

S.C. Code Ann. § 33-1-400. There are no registered shares in the Trust Fund.

In addition, shareholders have certain rights which the beneficiaries of the Trust Fund do not have. These rights give shareholders protection against abuses of directors. These rights include: the right to elect directors, S.C. Code Ann. § 33-8-103, notification of and opportunity to attend shareholder meetings, S.C. Code Ann. § 33-7-105, access to a list of shareholders entitled to vote, S.C. Code Ann. § 33-7-200, the right to distributions, S.C. Code Ann. § 33-6-400, the preemptive right to acquire unissued shares, S.C. Code Ann. § 33-6-300, the right to submit demands for meetings, S.C. Code Ann. § 33-7-102, the right to remove directors, S.C. Code Ann. § 33-8-108, and the right to dissent and obtain payment of shares, S.C. Code Ann. § 33-13-102.

The beneficiaries of the Homebuilder's Trust do not have the right to dissent. They do not have the right to shares. They do not have a right to meetings. They do not have the right to distributions, the right to acquire unissued shares, the right to submit demands. In derivative actions, the law presumes there are other rights which belong to

the shareholder bringing the action. The members of the trust are not shareholders, they do not have shareholder rights, and Rule 23(b) protections do not apply to the Trust Fund.

C. THIS ACTION IS NOT A DERIVATIVE ACTION.

1. Derivative Actions Do Not Apply To Trusts.

The plain meaning of Rule 23(b) does not apply it to trusts. “Where a statute uses a word having a well-recognized meaning in law, the presumption is that the Legislature intended to use the word in that sense.” *Coakley v. Tidewater Construction Corp.*, 194 S.C. 284, 9 S.E.2d 724 (1940).

The trial court erred in holding that Rule 23(b) applies to the Trust Fund. The Rule reads:

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