ORIGINAL

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

NOV 19 2014

SC Court of Appeals

Case No. 2013-CP-40-2655
Appellate Case No. 2014-000963

Allen Patterson, Steve Tilton, Richard Sandler, Lincoln Privette, Marc Ellis, Joey Carter, Barry Davis, Michael Nieri, Allen Patterson Residential LLC, Tilton Group, Sandler Construction Co., Inc., Privette Enterprises, Ellis Construction Co., Inc., The Barry Davis Company, Inc., Great Southern Homes, and J. Carter, LLC, on behalf of themselves and others similarly situated
..... Appellants,

v.

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

For purposes of considering Respondents' Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCF motion, the circuit court could only consider the complaint and any documents attached to or referenced in it, all of which comprise a portion of the Complaint. *Carolina First Corp. v. Whittle*, 343 S.C. 176, 190 & n.7, 539 S.E.2d 402, 410 & n.7 (Ct. App. 2000). In applying Rule 12, federal courts have recognized that where "collateral documents are inherent to the allegations in the complaint and the parties have noticed that the court will consider the documents" it is appropriate for the court to consider the referenced documents in deciding a motion to dismiss (without converting the

motion to one for summary judgment).¹ See *Darcangelo v. Verizon Communications, Inc.*, 292 F.3d 181, 195 n.5 (4th Cir. 2002) (citing *New Beckley Mining Corp. v. Int'l Union, United Mine Workers of America*, 18 F.3d 1161, 1164 (4th Cir. 1994)); *Abadian v. Lee*, 117 F.Supp.2d 481, 485 (D.Md. 2000) (citing *Biospherics, Inc. v. Forbes, Inc.*, 989 F. Supp. 748, 749 (D.Md. 1997), *aff'd*, 151 F.3d 180 (4th Cir. 1998)). Further, the circuit court may also take judicial notice of other matters of record in the same action. *Masters v. Rodgers Dev. Group*, 283 S.C. 251, 255, 321 S.E.2d 194, 196 (Ct. App. 1984) (holding judicial notice is appropriate for items whose “accuracy is capable of verification by reference to readily available sources of indisputable reliability”).

“When ‘the dispute is not as to the underlying facts but as to the interpretation of the law, and development of the record will not aid the resolution of the issues, it is proper to decide even novel issues on a motion to dismiss [pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6)].” *Bessinger v. BI-LO, Inc.*, 366 S.C. 426, 434, 622 S.E.2d 564, 568 (Ct. App. 2005) (quoting *Madison v. Am. Home Prods. Corp.*, 358 S.C. 449, 451, 595 S.E.2d 493, 494 (2004)).

Finally, and critical to this appeal, under Rule 23(b)(1), SCRPC, a plaintiff *must* meet certain pleading requirements in order to maintain a derivative action.² “A derivative action that does not meet the pleading requirements of Rule 23(b)(1), SCRPC, is properly dismissed pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6).” *Clearwater Trust v. Bunting*, 367 S.C. 340, 351, 626 S.E.2d 334, 339 (2006). This Rule seeks to prevent the unrestrained use of derivative actions. *Whittle*, 343 S.C. at 185, 539 S.E.2d at 407.

¹ Since [the South Carolina] Rules of Procedure are based on the Federal Rules, where there is no South Carolina law, [South Carolina courts] look to the construction placed on the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.” *Gardner v. Newsome Chevrolet-Buick, Inc.*, 304 S.C. 328, 330, 404 S.E.2d 200, 201 (1991).

² Rule 23(b)(1) requires that “the complaint *shall* also allege with particularity the efforts made by the plaintiff to obtain the action he desires from the director . . . and the reason for his failure to obtain the action or for not making the effort.” (emphasis added).

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY HELD THAT THE ACTION INVOLVES DERIVATIVE CLAIMS AND IS SUBJECT TO THE REQUIREMENTS OF RULE 23(B)(1).

A. Rule 23(b)(1) and Its Purpose

Rule 23(b)(1) addresses derivative actions filed by the shareholders of a corporation or members of an unincorporated association.³ The Fund is an unincorporated association. A derivative action is brought when one or more members of an unincorporated association, perceiving that the association has received an injury that the management has failed to redress, seeks to institute a suit for the benefit of the association. Rule 23(b)(1) is a departure from the Rule 8 pleading standards in that it explicitly provides additional pleading requirements for a derivative action. In *Carolina First Corp. v. Whittle*, this Court acknowledged that the “protective principles underlying the pleading requirements of Rule 23(b)(1) have long been recognized as important gatekeepers in South Carolina corporate jurisprudence.” 343 S.C. 176, 185, 539 S.E.2d 402, 407 (Ct. App. 2000).

The drafters of the rules of civil procedure rightly determined, building from common law jurisprudence, that derivative lawsuits must meet the additional requirements of a pre-suit demand in order for members of an unincorporated association to proceed with a lawsuit relating to the internal decision making of the association. *Latimer v. Richmond & D.R. Co.*, 39 S.C. 44, 51-52, 17 S.E. 258, 260-61 (1893) (stating that “before the shareholder is permitted, in his own name, to institute and conduct a litigation which usually belongs to the corporation, he should show to the satisfaction of the court that he has exhausted all the means within his reach to

³ The requirements of Rule 23(b)(1) apply with equal force in lawsuits against both an unincorporated association and a corporation. Thus, if a prior decision uses the word “corporation” when identifying a named defendant, the holding of that decision applies to derivative suits against “unincorporated associations,” as well. Also, in a derivative action against a corporation, the action will be brought by “shareholders” on behalf of the corporation. In a derivative action against an unincorporated association, the action will be brought by the “members” on behalf of the unincorporated association.

obtain, within the corporation itself, the redress of his grievances, or action in conformity to his wishes”).

Rule 23(b)(1) provides that:

In a derivative action brought by one or more shareholders or members to enforce a right of a corporation **or** of an unincorporated association, the corporation or association having failed to enforce a right which may properly be asserted by it, the complaint shall be verified and shall allege that the plaintiff was a shareholder or member at the time of the transaction of which he complains or that his share or membership thereafter devolved on him by operation of law. The complaint **shall** also allege with particularity the efforts, if any, made by the plaintiff to obtain the action he desires from the directors or comparable authority and, if necessary, from the shareholders or members, and the reasons for his failure to obtain the action or for not making the effort.

Rule 23(b)(1), SCRCP (emphasis added).

In *Whittle*, this Court affirmed the circuit court’s dismissal of plaintiff’s complaint because it failed to meet the pleading requirements of Rule 23(b)(1). It held that “[d]emand is required in order to assure compliance with the most fundamental principle of corporate governance—directors are answerable to the shareholders and are charged with the duty and responsibility to manage all aspects of corporate affairs.” *Id.* at 188, 539 S.E.2d at 409. It is for that reason that a derivative action is referred to as a “remedy of last resort.” *Id.* at 187, 539 S.E.2d at 408.

The “protective principles” of Rule 23 have been adopted because a proper pre-suit demand alerts the Board so that it may exercise its reasonable business judgment as to whether any corrective action should be taken without litigation. *Id.* at 188, 539 S.E.2d at 409. Rule 23(b)(1) requires a plaintiff to allege **in the complaint** the details of his pre-suit demand with particularity. Again, “Rule 23 is a departure from the more liberal pleading requirements of Rule 8, SCRCP, in that it requires particularized allegations.” *Id.* at 188, 539 S.E.2d at 409. By pleading with particularity the actions sought by the plaintiff, the efforts he has made to convince the Board to take those actions, and the resulting decision by the Board, the Court is able to

exercise its gatekeeping authority. Thus, if a demand is rejected by the Board, then the particularized allegations set forth *in the complaint* allow the Court to determine whether the Board's decision deserves deference and, thus, whether a derivative suit should proceed. *E.g., Grimes v. Donald*, 673 A.2d 1207, 1219 (Del. 1996) (noting that if a demand is rejected, "the board rejecting that demand is entitled to the presumption of the business judgment rule unless the stockholder can allege facts with particularity creating a reasonable doubt that the board is entitled to the benefit of the presumption") (overruled on unrelated grounds related to standard of review).

South Carolina's Rule 23(b)(1) mirrors Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23.1. The federal rule, from which South Carolina's rule is derived, was designed to protect against the potential abuses stemming from derivative actions. *Whittle*, 343 S.C. at 185, 539 S.E.2d at 407. Rule 23.1 seeks to prevent unrestrained use of derivative actions by shareholders of a corporation or members of an unincorporated association which would undermine the basic principles of corporate governance that certain decisions should be made by management of the entity. *Daily Income Fund, Inc. v. Fox*, 464 U.S. 523, 530 (1984) (noting the requirements for bringing a derivative action were designed to limit actions to situations in which there is an unjustified failure by the entity to act for itself). Furthermore, such actions impinge on the inherent role of management to conduct the affairs of the entity. *Renfro v. FDIC*, 773 F.2d 657, 658 (5th Cir. 1985). Mandatory compliance with Rule 23(b)(1) provides the circuit court, as gatekeeper, with a roadmap to follow in determining whether an unincorporated association's management has been given an opportunity to address the alleged wrong before forcing it into litigation.

Appellants misconstrue the purpose of Rule 23 when analogizing to federal jurisprudence at pages 21-22 of their Brief. The portion of Rule 23(b) addressed in *Surowitz v. Hilton Hotels Corp.* is the predecessor to current Rule 23.1(b), FRCP, which primarily deals with the

requirement that a plaintiff in a derivative lawsuit verify the complaint before filing the same.⁴ 383 U.S. 363, 372 (1966). It is this verification requirement, and *not* the pleading requirements at issue here, that was written to prevent “strike suits,” in which suits were filed without regard to their truth in order to coerce corporate managers to settle. *Id.* at 371 (noting that verification requirement was “originally adopted . . . to discourage ‘strike suits’ by people who might be interested in getting quick dollars by making charges without regard to their truth so as to coerce corporate managers to settle worthless claims in order to get rid of them”). To state that the entirety of Rule 23(b)(1) was created to prevent strike suits is grossly incorrect. Rule 23(b)(1) has clear and important gatekeeping functions that exist to allow management of a corporation or an association to use its business judgment when dealing with the operations and decision making of an organization. These pleading requirements are not mere “procedural technicalities”; they are designed to prevent minority members from taking an organization hostage.

The following are but a couple examples of why strict application of the pleading requirements of Rule 23(b)(1) are so important:

1. Assume the required pre-suit demand (which must be described with particularity in the complaint) asked a board to take action that would violate an SEC regulation or a decision of another regulatory agency (*e.g.*, the Workers’ Compensation Commission). If the pre-suit demand is denied and a member(s) brings an action against the unincorporated association because his demand was not met, a trial judge can properly dismiss the complaint at the earliest stage of the litigation.
2. Assume the required pre-suit demand asked a board to take action in a manner inconsistent with its managerial discretion. If the pre-suit demand is denied and the member brings an action against the unincorporated association because his demand was not met, a trial judge can look to the pleadings to determine whether the board’s decision falls within the protections of the business judgment rule. If it does, then the trial judge can properly dismiss the complaint at the earliest stage of the litigation. If it does not fall within the protections of the business judgment rule, then the trial judge can make that legal determination and allow the litigation to proceed.

⁴ *Accord* Rule 23(b)(1) (stating that the “complaint shall be verified”).

B. The Claims Sought by Appellants Are Derivative

Appellants brought claims that are clearly of a derivative nature and thus subject to the mandatory requirements of Rule 23(b)(1). Appellants assert claims for the association as opposed to individualized wrongs allegedly suffered by particular members. Their own allegations in their complaint regarding claimed wrongs committed by the Board establish the derivative nature of this lawsuit. Paragraph 41 of the Complaint states:

41. The plaintiffs are entitled to an Order of this Court ordering that the Trustees be removed for breach of their fiduciary duties and breach of trust, that new trustees be elected, **that all trust assets be returned to the Trust, that all damages incurred and funds taken out of the trust in breach of fiduciary duties and trust agreement be awarded**, enjoining further violations of the fiduciary duties and trust agreement, and awarding the plaintiffs and the class actual and punitive damages. (emphasis added).

[Complaint, ¶41, R.p. 52] Appellants could not maintain an individual action because they did not allege, nor could they, that any individual member's loss was separate and distinct from that of the Fund itself. In fact, they allege the opposite. For example, at paragraph 13 of the Complaint, Plaintiffs allege that their injuries are typical of the claims of the other members.

[Complaint, ¶13, R.p. 48] The Complaint identifies no personal, individualized damage to any Appellant, or an unnamed member for that matter.

A member of an association may maintain an individual action *only* if his loss is separate and distinct from that of the association. *Hite v. Thomas & Howard Co. of Florence, Inc.*, 305 S.C. 358, 361, 409 S.E.2d 340, 342 (1991), *overruled on other grounds by Huntley v. Young*, 319 S.C. 559, 462 S.E.2d 860 (1995); *Rice-Marko v. Wachovia Corp.*, 398 S.C. 301, 308, 728 S.E.2d 61, 65 (Ct. App. 2012). "A shareholder's suit is derivative if the gravamen of his complaint is an injury to the corporation and not to the individual interest of the shareholder." *Hite*, 305 S.C. at 361, 409 S.E.2d at 342. Allegations of corporate malfeasance that result in identical harm to all shareholders constitute a "breach of fiduciary duty [claim that] gives rise to a classic

shareholders' derivative suit." *Clearwater Trust*, 367 S.C. at 351, 626 S.E.2d at 339; *Babb v. Rothrock*, 303 S.C. 462, 464, 401 S.E.2d 418, 419 (1991) ("It is firmly established by our decisions that individual shareholders may not sue corporate directors or officers directly for losses suffered by the corporation.").

The gravamen of Appellants' Complaint alleges that the Fund has been injured and that each member may be liable for a shortfall in the assets of the Fund. This is not an allegation setting forth a specific, individualized injury. Instead, such an allegation meets the definition of a lack of a distinct injury to any single member. These alleged injuries are to the collective whole, and are not specific, differentiated injuries to particular members. Appellants do not allege particularized losses that the individual members of the Fund suffered or might suffer; instead, it is a collective loss that has been (or could be) allegedly suffered equally by all members.

In an effort to evade the Rule 23(b)(1) requirements of a derivative lawsuit, Appellants argue for the right to bring direct claims under the so-called "special duty" exception. [Appellants' Brief, pp. 15-16] The Appellants did not raise this issue to the circuit court; they raised it for the first time in their opening brief to this Court. Accordingly, it is not preserved for appellate review. *Queen's Grant II Horizontal Property Regime v. Greenwood Development Corp.*, 368 S.C. 342, 372, 628 S.E.2d 902, 919 (Ct. App. 2006) ("In order for an issue to be properly preserved for appeal, it must have been both raised to and ruled upon by the trial court.").

Issue preservation aside, Appellants' special duty argument fails as a matter of law. Appellants take the position that the general fiduciary duties the Board owes to all of the members of the Fund should be labeled as a *special duty*. That argument was rejected by the very decision Appellants cite.

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